1966

James Floyd Workman v. John W. Turner : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

The appellant appeals from the judgment of the District Court of the Third Judicial District, denying his petition for writ of habeas corpus.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The appellant filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the District Court of Salt Lake County, challenging his detention in the Utah State Prison by the respondent and assailing his conviction in the Fourth Judicial District Court. On March 16, 1966, the Honorable A. H. Ellett, Judge entered a memorandum decision denying the application for a writ of habeas corpus, indicating that the writ was dismissed on the grounds that appellant had waived his rights to preliminary hearing and counsel. An appeal was subsequently filed and an appearance entered in the case by Mr. Jimi Mitsunaga. Subsequently, Mr. Mitsunaga has indicated that he is unwilling to represent the appellant on appeal by his conclusions that appellant has insufficient grounds for appeal. Appellant wrote the Clerk of the Utah Supreme Court for appointment of

counsel to which appellant was informed he would be required to file his own briefs and that the record would be available if necessary along with an extension of time if this be required. The record was received for reference.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant submits that the decision of the trial court should be reversed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellant, a prisoner confined in the Utah State Prison, filed a complaint for writ of habeas corpus in the District Court of Salt Lake County. The basis upon which the appellant contends that he is entitled to habeas corpus are that he was not informed of his rights by police or the courts and that he was not accorded counsel for his defense while not so being informed by the trial court of the consequences to which he plead guilty without benefit of counsel.

Appellant shows from the record that he received a hearing before the Honorable A. H. Blett which produced a bias and prejudicial decision from the contects found lucidly spoken from the record which substantiates the foundation for appeal to the Supreme Court of the State of Utah. It also seems that in this same Hearing the question of innocence is a subject for contention on page 2, line 19 thru 30.

ARGUMENT

The trial court has error in its findings for writ of habeas corpus in the fact that the complaint states a verified claim for relief.

On page 2, line 11 thru 18 shows that counsel for appellant stated that the record of trial proceedings showed error in the fact that

of pleading before the Fourth District
appellant was without advise of counsel.

Miranda vs Arizona decision rendered on
June 18, 1966, by the United States Supreme Court
clearly stated that an accused must be represented
at all points of the procedure. Sentencing is
without a doubt an important juncture of procedure
and arraignment as well which shows that the court
failed to extend "Due Process" to your appellant.

Blacks law Dictionary says, "Due Process
of law implies the right of the person
affected thereby to be present before the
tribunal which pronounces judgment upon
the question of life, liberty, or property,
in its most comprehensive sense; to be
heard, by testimony or otherwise, and to
have the right of controverting, by proof,
every matter involved. If any question of
fact or liability be conclusively presumed
against him, this is not due process of law.
Ziegler vs Railroad Co., 50 Ala. 599."

On page 42, line 22, the Honorable A. H.
Blatt uses for conclusion that since appellant
had been in prison before that he intelligently
waived preliminary hearing. but this is not true,
and shows the bias reigns moreso here because no-
where in the transcript was appellant ever asked
if on prior conviction had he been accorded a
preliminary hearing, for if it had been scrutinized
the court would have found appellant never has had
a preliminary hearing in either case so he would
not have intelligently known the value of such.

Appellant with an 8th grade education
cannot know the value of a preliminary hearing
and acceptable to weak advice of those around
him which was the case here etc etc.

Too many Americans are ready to seize

and the necessities of the moment, to dispense with the protections given to the individual, and to cry for quick justice. Justice which is quick and which dispenses with the protection of freedom is rarely justice. The Bill of Rights and the fundamental rights which all Americans can claim have no clauses excepting those accused of disloyalty from their protection.

On page 2, line 19 thru 30 shows the immediate intercession of the point as to the guilt or innocence of your appellant which has no bearing on this cause since its allegations are based upon "Due Process" which was not accorded to appellant and as in the past to often conclusion bar the adjudication as to the facts which are brought before the bar. Appellant takes time to add a reference which clearly he alleges and shows within the transcript to have been perpetrated.

People vs Gilbert, Cal. 154 P. 2d 657, 25 C.
2d 422.

State vs Sevell, S.D., 12 N.W. 2d 198, 69
S.D. 494.

"Plea of guilty must not be induced by fear, by misrepresentation, by persuasion, or by the holding out of false hopes nor be made through inadvertence or by ignorance."

With an 8th grade education it was easy for those arresting officers and custody persons to inflict the strong will of speech to the point that your appellant gave up any hope for justice, and that it was induced for just such purpose. If appellant would have undertaken defense, with its ability of cross examination there might have been found the proper defense to the State's case.

Smith vs O'Grandy, 312 U.S. 329, 61 S.Ct.
572, 35 L.Ed. 859 (1941) we find;

"The process was denied by misrepresentations which obtained a plea of guilty without benefit of counsel."

"It violates the Fourteenth Amendment and deprives a defendant in a criminal case of due process of law to subject his liberty or property to the judgment of a court, the judge of which has a direct, personal, substantial pecuniary interest in reaching a conclusion against him in his case."

Here we find a direct decision which bears the vintage as to the dereliction of your appellants rights have been violated, not only by the original conviction but by the lower court hearing petition for habeas corpus. Unfounded conclusions which reflect refusal to be adjudged by previous rulings of the Supreme Court cannot be condoned as following the law as written.

Powell vs Alabama 287 U.S. 45, L.Ed. 158, 53 S.Ct. 55. Mr. Justice Sutherland states;

"The prompt disposition of criminal cases is to be commended and encouraged. But in reaching that result a defendant, charged with a serious crime, must not be stripped of his right to have sufficient time to advise with counsel and prepare his defense; to do that is not to proceed promptly in the calm spirit of regulated justice but to go forward with the haste of the mob."

In other words it seems that as in this case, appellant was rushed for "CONVICTION", but in post-conviction proceedings is again denied with the same haste and prejudicial interpretation. This is seen in the Courts hearing of March 16, 1966 when on page 2, line 27 thru 30 the Honorable A. H. Ellett, with enuendo offers suggested

reference that defense attorneys finding mal-
practices with judicial procedures have to be
considered administrators of fraud. It seems that
it would be the duty of trial judges to hamper
and forbid illegal procedures so that defense
attorneys were not finding their frauds to expose.
This abstract interpretation again comes at the
opening juncture of habeas corpus proceedings
showing that a prejudicial and bias attitude was
affixed even before conclusion of proceedings
which could not have been fair to appellant.

Miller vs United States, 357 U.S. 301, 313
(1958) is an example or above allegation.

"However much in a particular case insistence
upon such rules may appear as a technicality
that inures to the benefit of a guilty per-
son, the history of the criminal law proves
that tolerance of shortcut methods in law
enforcement impairs its enduring effectiveness."

Byars vs United States, 273 U.S. 28 (1927);
Lustig vs United States 338 U.S. 74 (1949);

"Denying shortcuts to only one of two cooper-
ating law enforcement agencies tends naturally
to breed legitimate suspicion of "working
arrangements" whose results are equally
tainted."

Appellant does not in end to qualify that
the Honorable Courts from which this appeal has
been brought forward was in collusion with any
law enforcement agency but tends to show that it takes
strength to so openly express a decision which
causes a policy change of view, but as under the
 rulings of the United States Supreme Court it must
be that strength for which facts are viewed and
interpreted, no matter what past precedent might
have been.

Page 31, line 9 thru 30, and page 35, line 1 thru 26, appellant wishes to show that the evidence shows that there was not an attorney assigned at any part of the procedure including the time that a statement was taken by the police officers. It would seem to show that there was not the offered protection of appellant due to the simple fact that the arresting officers did not appear from day to day, which would mean there should have been ample evidence an attorney would have been mandatory for the protection of rights guaranteed by the United States Constitution and the Constitution of the State of Utah.

Griffin vs Illinois, 351 U.S. 12, 100 L.Ed. 291, 76 S.Ct. 525. Mr. Justice Frankfurter puts these responsibilities of the courts before us clearly; pointing out those duties;

"But neither the fact that a State may deny the right of appeal altogether nor the right of a State to make an appropriate classification, based on differences in crimes and their punishment, nor the right of a State to lay down conditions it deems appropriate for criminal appeals, sanctions differentiations by a State that have no relation to a rational policy of criminal appeal or authorize the imposition of conditions that offend the deepest presuppositions of our society..... But when a State deems it wise and just that convictions be susceptible to review by an appellate court, it cannot by force of its exactions draw a line which precludes convicted indigent persons, forsooth erroneously by disabling them from bringing to the notice of an appellate tribunal errors of the trial court which would upset the conviction were practical opportunity for review not foreclosed."

On September 25th, 1966, the Honorable Phil L. Hansen, Attorney General, State of Utah filed the following press release with the Salt Lake Tribune:

Attorney General Phil L. Hansen has warned Utah Law Enforcement officers that a recent U.S. Supreme Court decision requires them to assure criminal suspects of their access to legal counsel in nearly all circumstances except initial scene of the crime questioning.

In an opinion requested by Charles Semken Jr., Utah Peace Officers Assn. president, the attorney general said the courts Miranda vs Arizona case concerns the suspects right to silence or counsel when questioning is initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant ways.

This article went further into the rights of suspects and here in the case before the Bar we find that everyone understands those recent rulings of the United States Supreme Court, but when a case comes before the honorable A. H. Ellett, he chooses to deny same by the adding of conclusions which are unfounded.

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the Honorable A. H. Ellett states on the 2nd page, section 5, that in his opinion, petitioner perjured himself, but nowhere in the transcript is this brought out. In fact, from a layman's point of view, it would seem the testimony given by the State's witnesses is inconclusive of any proven fact and clearly derivative of imagination to cover this specific situation.

Adams vs California, 382 U.S. 46, 91 L.Ed. 2d 117, 37 S.Ct. 1372. Mr. Justice need cites;

"To consider Due Process of law as merely a shorthand statement of other specific clauses in the same amendment is to attribute to the authors and proponents of the Amendment ignorance of, or indifference to, a historic conception which was one of the great instruments in the arsenal of the constitutional freedom which the Bill of Rights was to protect and strengthen."

This would necessarily answer the interpretation which has been extended to the proven facts that appellant shows within the record. If the courts of the land are to have their own interpretation of the law, then it is not necessary for the Supreme Court to render decision, but since the Utah Constitution, in ARTICLE I, clearly states that this be the Supreme Law of the land, it must be mandatory that this law and these decisions be followed without interpretation.

Within the body of the transcript of the hearing for habeas corpus before the honorable A. M. Elliott, it must be shown that it clearly signifies in reference of the appellant being in prison before, and presently is incarcerated. This cannot help but show a prejudicial and bias attitude and bring forward reference to the the Consolidated Silver Mining & Milling Co. Vs Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 125 U.S. 191 where it states;

"The inhibition what no state shall deprive any person within its jurisdiction of equal protection of the laws was designed to prevent any person or class of persons from discriminating and hostile legislation."

Appellant shows that there seems to have been considerable substance layed in the fact that he was a former resident of the Utah State Prison, and presently residing there that shows the court

and that puts foundation to the allegation.

Escobedo vs Illinois, 378 U.S. 478 (1964).
Hamilton vs Alabama, 368 U.S. 52 (1961).
Gideon vs Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1965).
White vs Maryland, 373 U.S. 59 (1963).
Powell vs Alabama, 267 U.S. 45 (1962).
Miranda vs Arizona, June 13th, 1966.

Above we find six (6) cases where the United States Supreme Court has rendered decisions which directly point to those rights which your appellant has been disallowed. Though it has been stated that certain sections of his procedure was waived, it must be asked who so advised of this, and we come directly back to the fact that appellant was without competent counsel for legal advice. It is the duty, it is the right to find the courage to respect the law, and sitting as appellant's peers there has to be no other thought then to simply verify the fact, was he accorded "Due Process" of the law? In a layman's view, he was not given this protection.

United States vs Lee, (1882) 106 U.S. 196 clearly shows the duty of the Court and citizens;

"No man in this country is so high that he is above the law. No officer of the law may set that law at defiance with impunity. All the officers of the government from the highest to the lowest, are creatures of the law and are bound to obey it. It is the only supreme power in our system or government and every man who by accepting office participates in its functions is only the more strongly bound to submit to that supremacy, and to observe the limitations which it imposes upon the exercise of the authority which it gives."

Appellant shows the above reference in the fact that thought the decision might give inference

... which had no bearing to the case before the bar, it is evident that failure of representation of counsel was a serious infringement upon his rights which are guaranteed by the Constitution of the United States.

Page 42, line 15 thru 17, the Honorable A. H. Ellett states; "The Supreme Court has spoken on matters that I think are none of their business, but they have spoken, and I am bound by it and propose to follow their rulings."

This is quoted, but this is not the actions followed with denying appellant's writ of habeas corpus on the grounds heretofore brought to the attention of this Honorable Court.

Irvin vs Dowd, 359 U.S. 384, P. 405 (1959).

"the state courts, equally with the courts of the union....to guard, enforce and protect every right granted or secured by the Constitution of the United States."

United States vs Handford, 2 U.S.C.A. 5A 249 P. 2d 295;

"The duty of the courts to have a double burden owing a heavy obligation to the government dedicated to conduct his case zealously, but also as a representative of government dedicated to fairness and equal justice to all owing a heavy obligation to accuser."

Then, we find above two (2) references which show that even though it might be directly against the moral belief of that person so sitting in judgment to release appellant, the law which has been shown grants said relief as law without the need of refusing to accept the responsibility.

On the 21st day of September, 1966, appellant was notified by the herein Honorable Court, that he would be required to file his own brief due to the fact that representing counsel, Jimi Mitsunaga, had withdrawn because he could not find reversible error of the judgment. This seems to be a strange correspondence on two reasons.

First: Jimi Mitsunaga Esq., legal defender from Salt Lake City, was the representing counsel before the honorable A. H. Ellett and alleges the facts which he presented to the court in support for the requested writ of habeas corpus. It seems that he represented his cause sufficiently that as a layman, I bring the appeal before this Honorable Body of the State of Utah. Then, to withdraw without explicit reasoning then that in file with the Supreme Court does not sustain the merits in which he represented himself on March 16, 1966 in the lower court. It would seem that the pending political campaign in which he is presently involved might be a reason that the overburden of work is too demanding and this was a good case to leave for future reference.

Second: Though the Supreme Court might have appointed Mr. Mitsunaga as counsel, appellant wishes to point to the Court that it was his withdrawal from the case that caused the request for counsel that has been herewith refused. As in a recent ruling of the Utah Supreme Court in which counsel was dismissed by plaintiff, the court there found that another attorney was not required. In the case mentioned appellant does not agree, but a comparison to his cause cannot be made because appellant did not dismiss counsel, but appointed legal defender withdrew on his own accord.

Crandall vs Nevada, 6 Wall. 35, 18 L.Ed. 745; Mr. Justice Miller states as follows;

"If the government has rights on her own account, the citizen also correlative

rights. He has the right to come to the seat of government to assert any claim he may have upon that government or to transact any business he may have with it. To seek its protection, to share its office, to engage in administering its functions."

In this case of appeal, the above reference is certainly true due to the requirement of appellant being forced to construct his own briefs, but the fact remains that he is not receiving "Due Process" by the refusal of not only the Honorable Court to appoint legal representation, but in the fact that legal counsel withdrew after representation in the lower court.

Respectfully drawing attention to Utah Statute '77 - 64 - 1 where counsel is guaranteed indigent persons it must be shown that this same is completely ignored after post-conviction proceedings have been initiated. Though this might be contested by the State, there cannot be a logical rebuttal because a zealous attack has not been conducted and refusal to proceed cannot allow section six (6) of said statute to be invoked as might be attempted.

Johnson vs Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 464, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 1025, 32 L.Ed. 1461 states;

"Where the right to counsel is of such critical importance as to be an element of Due Process under the Fourteenth Amendment, a finding of waiver is not lightly to be made."

Appellant contends that above is exactly the attitude which has been extended in the case before the lower court in which said judgment so allowed conclusions to remain that he intelligently waived his rights to counsel and preliminary hearing. With such a slight education, never having understood full procedure in the past, appellant has not waived his rights to counsel or procedure.

Appellant contests the opinion brought about in his seeking for writ of habeas corpus and that judgment of the court was openly made. The hearing was initiated as to his innocence or guilt by the Honorable A. H. Ellett and about a condition that could not have made it possible for the lower court to render an increased decision. This is found on page 2, line 15 thru 23 of the transcript of Hearing held March 16th, 1906.

Hill vs Texas, 316 U.S. 400, p 406;

"Nor is this Court at liberty to grant or withhold the benefits of equal protection which the Constitution commands for all, merely as we may deem the defendant innocent or guilty....."

There is no question that the lower court interpreted its duty to bare in mind the fact that appellant was not attempting to contest the merits of his innocence or guilt, and this was pointed out on the fact by representing counsel that the point in question was irrelevant which only receive a prejudiced conclusion by the court.

Davis vs Mills, 194 U.S. 451, p 457;

"Constitutions are intended to preserve practical and substantial rights, not to maintain theories."

Consequently, using above reference the appellant declares the facts used as foundation conclusions by the lower court were nothing more than theories of one person, sitting alone in judgment which was clearly shown to contain substantiated fact that became clouded by outside facts irrelevant to the case.

Marbury vs Madison, (1803) 1 Cranch 137, p 177

"It is emphatically the provence and duty of the judicial department to say what the law is."

Appellant points to the above reference to illustrate the fact that the law has been interpreted but in his case refused to be applied to his cause.