1966

James Floyd Workman v. John W. Turner : Brief of Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

The appellant, James Floyd Workman, appeals from a decision of the Third Judicial District Court denying his release on petition of writ of habeas corpus.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

On December 8, 1965, James Floyd Workman filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the district court for Salt Lake County attacking his conviction for the crime of second degree burglary. An amended petition for writ of habeas corpus was filed on the 14th day of February, 1966. An answer to the amended petition was filed by the State on

the 17th day of February, 1966, and on March 16, 1966, the matter came on for hearing before the Honorable A. H. Ellett, Judge, who dismissed the petition, finding it without merit.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The respondent submits the decision of the trial court denying relief by habeas corpus should be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent submits the following statement of facts: The appellant filed a petition and an amended petition for writ of habeas corpus, alleging, (1) that appellant had been deprived of counsel at every stage of the proceedings that resulted in his present commitment, (2) that the appellant had not been advised of his rights at the time of his arrest, and, (3) that at the time the appellant entered a plea of guilty, the district court failed to advise appellant of the possible incarceration that could result from such a plea (R. 1&9). An answer to the amended petition was filed admitting that petitioner was not advised as to the possibility of incarceration at the time the plea of guilty was entered, but alleging that such a failure to advise appellant was not a basis for writ of habeas corpus (R. 8).

At the time of hearing, appellant was the only witness to testify in his behalf. Appellant's testimony may be summarized as follows: that the arresting

officers advised appellant to waive preliminary hearing (R. 29); that when appellant appeared before the Provo City Court, the complaint was read to appellant (R. 30), but nothing was said to appellant concerning his right to counsel (R. 31); that the transcript of the hearing which took place in the district court (Exhibit P-1) was incorrect in stating that the appellant answered "no" to an inquiry by the court as to whether appellant had or desired counsel (R. 32). On cross-examination, appellant testified to serving a prior term in the Utah State Penitentiary for the crime of second degree burglary and that such term commenced around 1956 (R. 34). Appellant further testified that the arresting officers did not threaten or intimidate appellant in any way if he refused to waive preliminary hearing (R. 36), and that the appellant was aware of the penalty for the crime of second degree burglary (R. 40), and the likelihood that the appellant would be returned to the Utah State Prison (R. 41).

The State relied on the testimony of three witnesses to establish, (1) the standard practice of Judge Meservy, of the Provo City Court at the time of appellant's appearance (R. 47), that the appellant was advised in the city court proceedings of his right to counsel (R. 57), that after appellant's arrest, appellant voluntarily gave a statement implicating himself as to the charges against him (R. 50), that the purpose of the introduction of this statement was to illustrate appellant's behavior and conduct as indicating a likelihood of a waiver of the formal judicial matters (R. 50), and that while the appellant was being es-

corted to the Provo City Court, appellant was again advised that the court would appoint counsel (R. 62).

While the appellant's brief is not clear as to the grounds relied on for reversal, respondent submits that the issues involved in this appeal are: (1) whether appellant effectively waived his right to counsel, (2) whether appellant was not advised as to his rights at the time of his arrest and also whether such advice is necessary at the time of his arrest, (3) whether the failure of the court to advise appellant of the possible incarceration that could result from a plea of guilty resulted in prejudicial error to the appellant, or whether this contention affords a proper basis for habeas corpus proceedings.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE APPELLANT VOLUNTARILY, INTELLIGENTLY, AND UNDERSTANDINGLY WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL THROUGH ALL STAGES OF THE PROCEEDINGS THAT RESULTED IN APPELLANT'S COMMITMENT.

A primary consideration is the standard applicable to a finding that the appellant effectively waived his right to counsel throughout the proceedings that resulted in appellant's commitment. It has been suggested that the federal requirements as to an effective waiver of counsel are applicable to state actions. Mazor, **The Right to Be Provided Counsel: Variations on a Familiar Theme**, 9 Utah L. Rev. 50, 75 (1964). Also, see **Malloy v. Hogan**, 378 U.S. 1 (1964).

As stated in **Johnson v. Zerbst**, 304 U.S. 458, 464 (1938):

The determination of whether there has been an intelligent waiver of the right to counsel must depend in each case, upon the particular facts and circumstances surrounding that case, including the background, experience, and conduct of the accused.

See also **Carnley v. Cochran**, 369 U.S. 506 (1962), and **Moore v. Michigan**, 355 U.S. 155 (1957), which seem to establish the federal standard as to waiver of right to counsel as being a waiver that has been intelligently and understandingly effected by the accused.

This court, in **State v. Spiers**, 12 Utah 2d 14, 16, 361 P.2d 509, 510, follows the federal standard. It is therein stated:

The determining factor of whether appellant was convicted without due process of law is whether there has been an intelligent waiver of his right to counsel.

In determining whether appellant intelligently and understandingly waived his right to counsel, it is proper to consider the appellant's background, experience and conduct. **Johnson v. Zerbst, supra**, and **State v. Spiers, supra**. Appellant testified that he had previously served a term in the Utah State Prison commencing around 1956 (R. 34). As to that charge, appellant admitted that he at first pleaded guilty (R. 34), but that when he was bound over to the district court, the matter was referred back to the city court for the appointment of counsel (R. 35). Ap-

pellant was, therefore, keenly aware of his right to counsel.

It is proper to consider the past criminal record of an accused in determining whether the accused intelligently and understandingly waived his right to counsel. **Johnson v. Zerbst, supra; Verdon v. United States**, 296 F.2d 554 (8th Cir. 1961); **Michener v. United States**, 181 F.2d 911 (8th Cir. 1950); **Lesieau v. United States**, 177 F.2d 919 (8th Cir. 1949).

It is also vital to recognize that, because of appellant's past experience, he was admittedly aware of the penalty for the crime for second degree burglary (R. 40) and also the likelihood that he would be returned to the Utah State Prison (R. 41).

During cross-examination, the following transpired: (R. 38):

Q. Let me ask you, referring to Exhibit P-1, which appears to be a certified transcript by Dale J. Johnson, official court reporter, Fourth Judicial Court, and ask you if this in fact occurred:

The Court: Come forward. Is your name James Floyd Workman?

Mr. Workman: Yes.

The Court: How old are you?

Mr. Workman: Twenty five.

The Court: You are before the court at this time to answer to a charge which has been brought by the District Attorney of the Fourth Judicial District, State of Utah. Are you represented by an attorney?

Mr. Workman: No.

The Court: Do you want an attorney?

Mr. Workman: No.

The Court: You are advised that you have a right to have an attorney if you want one. If you are unable to employ one yourself, the court will appoint one for you. Do you want one?

Mr. Workman: No.

The appellant testified that, while he didn't recall that the above proceedings occurring, they could have in fact occurred (R. 39).

Therefore, it cannot be said that after a proper inquiry by the court, the appellant did not intelligently and understandingly waive his right to counsel. Rather, the exact opposite is established by the record and also by appellant's background, conduct, and experience.

POINT II

THE FAILURE OF THE COURT TO ADVISE THE APPELLANT OF POSSIBLE INCARCERATION AT THE TIME APPELLANT ENTERED A PLEA OF GUILTY DOES NOT AFFORD A BASIS FOR RELIEF BY WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS, AND SUCH FAILURE DID NOT RESULT IN PREJUDICIAL ERROR TO THE APPELLANT.

In **State v. Banford**, 13 Utah 2d 63, 368 P.2d 473 (1962), collateral relief was sought because of the trial court's failure to advise the accused of the consequences of a plea of guilty. It is submitted that habeas corpus is not a substitute for appeal. In **Thompson v. Harris**, 107 Utah 99, 152 P.2d 91 (1944),

this court indicated that habeas corpus is much narrower in scope than direct appeal and is limited to those instances where there has been a substantial departure from due process. This court stated, 107 Utah at 102, 152 P.2d at 94:

The writ of habeas corpus must not be used to discover and correct all errors which might creep into a criminal trial. The time for taking an appeal has wisely been limited by law. If the writ of habeas corpus were to be used to reach all defects in the trial which could be raised by a timely appeal, no conviction could become final. We recognize that some errors are more prejudicial to a defendant than are others, but if habeas corpus is to be used to correct error, where can we draw the line? Should we leave the determination as to when there has been and has not been sufficient error to warrant interference by the use of a writ of habeas corpus entirely to the discretion of each judge based on standards which he may invoke from his own mind? We believe that the only sound line that can be drawn is to restrict the use of the writ of habeas corpus to the correction of jurisdictional errors and to errors so gross as to in effect deprive the defendant of his constitutional substantive or procedural rights. Anything short of that must be corrected on appeal or by the board of pardons. And this of course is true whether the constitutional right is granted by the state constitution or by the federal constitution through the absorption in the Fourteenth Amendment.

Recently in **Gallegos v. Turner**, 17 Utah 2d 273, 400 P.2d 386 (1965), this court again acknowledged the application of the principle in the **Thompson** case. This court further stated in reference to the validity of judgments, 17 Utah 2d at 275, 400 P.2d at 388:

It is then not subject to attack under habeas corpus or any other collateral proceeding except in the most unusual circumstances: where the court was without jurisdiction; or there has been a substantial failure to accord the accused due process of law; or perhaps for example where it is indisputably shown that here is a mistaken identity; or that there has been a knowing and wilful falsification of the evidence by the prosecutor; or some other such circumstance that it would be wholly unconscionable not to reexamine the conviction.

Consequently, it is submitted that there is no basis for habeas corpus because of a technical failure to intensively advise the defendant pleading guilty as to all the consequences of his plea unless it is apparent that there was substantial likelihood, from what actually occurred, that the defendant would not have understood the consequences of his plea or his rights would have been otherwise inadequately protected. In the instant case, the record unquestionably shows the appellant, because of his past experience, realized the penalty of second degree burglary (R. 40) and also the likelihood that he would be returned to the Utah State Prison (R. 41).

It is, therefore, submitted that because of the nature of the proceedings in habeas corpus and also because of the undisputed facts in the instant case, the failure of the court to advise appellant of the possible consequences of a plea of guilty is not a proper basis for habeas corpus and no prejudicial error resulted to the appellant.

POINT III

APPELLANT'S CONTENTION THAT AT THE TIME OF HIS ARREST HE WAS NOT ADEQUATELY APPRAISED OF HIS RIGHTS IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND FURTHER, EVEN IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH AN APPRAISAL, THERE WOULD NOT BE REVERSIBLE ERROR.

At the hearing, the state introduced the testimony of Kenneth Forshee, a lieutenant in the Provo City Police Department and also the arresting officer, to establish that subsequent to appellant's arrest, appellant voluntarily gave a statement implicating himself and confessing his guilt as to the charge of second degree burglary (R. 49-61). The statements were introduced into evidence as Exhibits D-2 and D-3 and specifically state, "I have been advised that I have the right to an attorney and that this statement may be used for or against me in any court or trial I might stand." The validity of the statements is borne out by the testimony of the officer.

However, it is also submitted that the reference by the appellant to **Miranda v. Arizona**, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966), is not appropriate inasmuch as the standards established by that decision are not to be retroactively applied to proceedings that transpired in 1962.

CONCLUSION

The record in the instant case clearly supports the findings of fact and conclusion of law made by the trial court. The appellant indisputably, intelli-

gently, and understandingly waived his right to counsel throughout all stages of the proceedings that resulted in his commitment. The fact that the district court did not advise appellant of the possible consequences of his plea of guilty are not properly subject to review by writ of habeas corpus and also, because of the appellant's background and past experience, such advice was unnecessary because it would simply have been repeating what the appellant was admittedly aware of. The record does not support appellant's contention that he was not appraised of his rights at the time of his arrest, but even if this was the established case, there was no reversible error committed because the standards established by the United Supreme Court in the case of **Miranda v. Arizona, supra**, are not to be retroactively applied to procedures culminated in 1962.

This court should affirm.